ALASKA STATE LEGQ SLATURE
SENATE JUDI Cl ARY STANDI NG COWM TTEE
ANCHORAGE LI O
May 27, 2008
11: 03 a. m

MVEMBERS PRESENT

Senator Hollis French, Chair
Senator Bill W el echowski
Senat or Gene Therri aul t

MEMBERS ABSENT

Senat or Charlie Huggins, Vice Chair
Senator Lesil MQiire

OTHER LEQ SLATORS PRESENT

Senator Bettye Davis
Representati ve John Coghill
Represent ati ve Andrea Dol |
Representative Jay Ranras
Representative Bill Stoltze
Representative M ke Chenaul t

COW TTEE CALENDAR

Departnment of Corrections - Status Hearing
PREVI QUS COMM TTEE ACTI ON

No previous action to record.

W TNESS REQ STER

BRAD W LSON, Busi ness Manager

Al aska Correctional Oficers Association (ACOA)

Anchor age, AK

PCSI TI ON  STATEMENT: Provided wunion perspective at the DOC
stat us heari ng.

TODD GODFREY, Corrections Oficer

Anvi | Mountain

Nonme, AK

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT:  Provided corrections officer perspective at
t he DOC status hearing.

SENATE JUD COW TTEE -1- May 27, 2008



DENNI S HANSQON, Corrections O ficer

Spring Creek

Sewar d, AK

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT:  Provided corrections officer perspective at
t he DOC st atus hearing.

DON MACOMBER, | aid off Corrections Oficer |11

Spring Creek

Seward, AK

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Provi ded perspective at the DOC status
heari ng.

JOE SCHM DT, Comm ssi oner

Depart ment of Corrections (DOC)

Juneau, AK

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified at the DOC status hearing.

BRYAN BRANDENBURG, Deputy Director

Division of Institutions

Depart ment of Corrections,

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified at the DOC status hearing.

DI ANNE KI ESEL

Deputy Director

Di vi sion of Personnel & Labor Rel ations

Depart ment of Adm nistration

Juneau, AK

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified at the DOC status hearing.

DWAYNE PEEPLES, Deputy Comm ssi oner

Depart ment of Corrections

Juneau, AK

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified at the DOC status hearing.

DOCTOR JOE MCLAUGHLIN, Acting Chief

Secti on of Epi dem ol ogy

Division of Public Health, Departnent of Health and Soci al
Servi ces

Anchor age, AK

PCOSI TI ON STATEMENT: Provided information about MRSA at the DOC
status heari ng.

JOHN BODI CK, Assistant Attorney General
Crimnal Division

Depart nent of Law

Anchor age, AK

SENATE JUD COW TTEE - 2- May 27, 2008



PCOSI TI ON STATEMENT: Explained the Cleary litigation at the DOC
stat us heari ng.

SAM EDWARDS, Deputy Conmi ssi oner

Department of Corrections

Anchor age, AK

PCSI TI ON  STATEMENT: Provided information at the DOC status
heari ng.

ACTI ON NARRATI VE

CHAIR HOLLIS FRENCH called the Senate Judiciary Standing
Commttee neeting to order at 11:03:42 AM Present at the cal
to order were Senators French, Welechowski, Therriault and
Represent ati ves Hol mes and Dol | .

DEPARTMVENT OF CORRECTI ONS - STATUS HEARI NG

11: 04: 15 AM

CHAI R FRENCH announced that the purpose of the hearing is to
look into recent allegations of problens wthin the prison
system i ncl udi ng over crowdi ng and t he preval ence of
Met hicillin-resistant St aphyl ococcus aureus (MRSA). Unl i ke
conplaints that have been brought in the past by prisoners,
these conplaints cone from correction officers, which is a
little different and worthy of |egislative attention.

CHAIR FRENCH relayed that legislators took a tour of the
Anchorage correctional conplex this norning. They spoke wth
correction officers and were able to see firsthand the
overcrowding. He noted that MRSA isn’t as easy to detect so the
committee will rely on folks who work inside the facility to
tell about that. This hearing is an opportunity to flesh out
these issues rather than relying on a trial by press release.
The people who have conplaints wll have an opportunity to
present them and the conm ssioner and his people will be able to
present their side of the story. This afternoon the state
epidemologist will talk about MRSA, the state attorney wll
tal k about prisoner litigation and sone of the problens that it
can lead to. Also, forner Conm ssioner Mark Antrimw Il give his
perspective on the prison issue. Comm ssioner Joe Schmdt wll
have an opportunity at the end of the day to wap-up the
di scussi on and rebut anything he thinks necessary.

11: 05: 28 AM
BRAD W LSON, Business Manager, Alaska Correctional Oficers
Association (ACOA), thanked the commttee for listening and

SENATE JUD COW TTEE - 3- May 27, 2008



convening the hearing. He said he would provide an overview and
then several correction officers would discuss their experiences
and concerns.

11: 08: 13 AM
CHAI R FRENCH noted that 50-60 correction officers were present.

MR WLSON referred to handouts he had provided including: a
panphl et on MRSA, two Power Point presentations on overcrowdi ng
that are available on disc or by emil, the final Ceary
decision settlement, and the conpliance nonitor’s report. He
added that Cleary is a lawsuit filed by inmates that was
resolved in 1991 or 1992. Mst of the tine today will be spent

di scussing the legislative hearing docunent that includes
gr aphs.

11:11:19 AM

MR WLSON said the final item that wll be discussed is

statewi de mnimuns. He noted that behind each docunent are nenos
from each institution outlining the mninmns over the |ast year
and how they may or may not have changed. Martin Crowey's
institution was used for denonstration purposes, he said. He
enphasi zed that the docunmentation is unofficial and is to be
used for the audit and to elicit discussion.

MR. WLSON thanked |egislators for announcing the hearings and
initiating the audit. That in itself has resulted in change:
MRSA is being tracked, communi cation is better, federa
nmedi ati on has been offered, and probation officers have already
had three things change for the better in the workplace. Most
inmportantly, prior to the audit there was discussion about
cutting overtine or not calling it overtinme after July 1. This
was a big concern and it’s understood that that won't happen on
July 1. W' re glad that transparency in governnent is nore than
a canpai gn sl ogan, he said.

11: 15: 36 AM

MR WLSON said that the discussion would focus on the public
safety issues of MRSA and staffing. He held up a booklet that
was sent to the governor and said it highlights the issues that
factored into the 96 percent [no confidence] vote including
nmoral e. That won’t be discussed, but at |east you re aware of
it, he said. Referring to section 1 of the legislative hearing
book, he said that was delivered to the governor with a request
for an investigation.

11:17: 21 AM

SENATE JUD COW TTEE -4- May 27, 2008



MR. WLSON referred to press reports about MRSA being a massive
epidemic with over 200 cases in the last two years. “W didn't
say that, but the fact that we didn't say that does not nean
that we are taking anything away from officers or anybody else
who did say it,” he said. But according to the definition of
“epi dem c¢” and considering recent statenents by heal t h
officials, it would qualify, he said. It’s reasonable to say
that in the |ast several years there have been nore than 200
cases of NMRSA.

11:19: 03 AM

CHAIR FRENCH noted that M. Spengler issued a research report
that quotes Brad WIson, business manager of ACOA, as saying
that tracking MRSA incidents anong inmates and staff is of
par anmount inportance and that the incidence of MRSA is ranpant
anmong prisoners and correctional officers across the state.

MR. WLSON recall ed speaking with a gentleman who wanted to talk
to people who had information on MRSA. He told himthat NMRSA was
a very serious concern and there were MRSA cases, but he didn’'t
use the word ranpant. “lI set himup with ...Corrections USA and
CCPQA. "

CHAI R FRENCH said he was just asking if he recalled talking to
M. Spengler.

MR. WLSON acknowl edged that he my have spoken to him
Certainly MRSA is on an extreme increase and should be curtailed
using the best policies from around the country, he said. W
want to do everything possible to keep it from getting to the
inmates and officers. The problemis how to get the information
out wi thout giving out confidential information. He highlighted
t hat sonmeone spoke to the press and was disciplined for giving
out confidential information. That person was also disciplined
for being dishonest because he said he thinks the problem is
increasing. “If you don’t track it, how do you know he's being
di shonest when he says he thinks there’'s a serious problen?” he
guestioned. That put fear into the rest of the correction
of ficers, he added.

He said we understand that new policies are being put in place
since the hearing and audit were announced.

11: 23: 40 AM

MR. WLSON referenced an article about MRSA and related | awsuits
contained in the legislative hearing book and commented on the
simlarities between those cases and how MRSA got started here.

SENATE JUD COW TTEE - 5- May 27, 2008



The infections were classified as spider bites and there were
tracking issues, all of which resulted in lawsuits. W think
MRSA is not only sonmething that is a mmjor concern to our
people, it could be a liability situation, he said. One report
said that the extra cost of doing extra cleaning actually was a
cost saving.

CHAI R FRENCH said he believes the commttee will hear that MRSA
can be conpared to the common cold. WMny people carry the
infection or gerns, but nost of the time a cold goes away in a
week. Sonetinmes a cold develops into pneunonia. You and others
may want to describe how it’s possible to keep track of
sonmething that’s as common as the comon cold and how nmuch noney
shoul d be spent doing that, he said.

MR. WLSON responded that he thinks that it's inportant to
culture the boil to determne what it is for sure and then the
person should be isolated to protect others. “I would argue that
MRSA is a serious situation and is sonmething that can be managed
nore appropriately than was done in Pennsylvania, which cost
them I ots of noney.” The article also talks about training and
in the last two weeks that has started, he said.

MR. WLSON described the injury relief account and explained
that if someone has a workplace injury they are covered under
that account. There's $500,000 in that account, but the state
st opped covering people with MRSA saying it was |like the common
cold and it wasn't clear where it came from That was hurtful to
wor kers, he said. Also, workers’ conpensation is dragging its
feet and the reason for that needs to be investigated.

11: 27: 56 AM

TODD GODFREY, Correctional Oficer, Anvil Muntain, said he was
infected wwth MRSA in Decenber. The doctor said he assuned that
it was MRSA because of where he works, but he couldn’t confirm
that wthout a swab test. He was given antibiotics and pain
nmedi cation. By the next day the infection had spread. MRSA was
confirmed on his third trip to the hospital and he was told to
stay hone from work and limt contact with others for 4 to 5
days. He followed the instructions and about 12 to 13 days after
his initial trip to the hospital he was okay. It was a painful
di sgusting and enbarrassi ng experience. He believes he got the
infection at the institution because of the environnment and
ci rcunst ances he works under. Anvil Muntain is the main intake
facility for the Nonme/Kotzebue region and many of the folks
comng in don't have routine access to washers, driers, and
showers. When these fol ks conme in, he handles them up close and

SENATE JUD COW TTEE - 6- May 27, 2008



personal. That includes pat searches, strip searches, clothing
searches, and sonetinmes he’'s nore hands-on dependi ng on whet her
they’ re conbative, assaultive, intoxicated, or suicidal. Because
of location and weather everyone is confined indoors for 6 to 7
nmonths at a time. Also, the inmate capacity is exceeded nuch of
the tinme. Added together he thinks it's reasonable to believe
that he was infected at the institution.

MR, GODFREY said he filed a workers’ conpensation claim about
six nmonths ago and has yet to get a decision. In the neantine
his insurance conpany has had to pay and he has paid the 20
percent co-pay out of pocket. He missed 5 days of work so he
applied for injury leave. That was denied so 60 hours was
subtracted from his personal bank of | eave.

11: 34:12 AM

MR. GODFREY read several nenobs from the injury |eave public
protection group. The first says that Dianne Kiesel and Garl and
Arnstrong nmade the decision not to approve his injury |eave for
the MRSA staph infection since it can be contracted anywhere and
there was not a clear outbreak in the institution. The second
email from the sane group denied the injury |eave due to a |ack
of evidence that he contracted MRSA at the institution. That’s
in spite of the fact that nedical staff has said that there has
been MRSA in the facility and he has seen and handed out
nmedi cation to inmates with infections that were simlar to his.
Also, he's read studies indicating that MRSA can live on
surfaces, bedding, and Ilinens for days, weeks, and perhaps
nmont hs depending on the surface and the tenperature. Wen all
the factors are considered, it’'s reasonable for him to believe
that he was infected at the institution. He would |ike the
department to support him and he respectfully asks the
commi ssioner and director to reconsider his case. "There needs
to be better communication, a little understanding, a little
support on the subject,” he said.

He said he likes to think that he works at one of the best
facilities in the state. It's known to be well-run and well -
mai nt ai ned, and the inmates work hard to keep it clean.

CHAI R FRENCH asked how many i nmates are at Anvil Mbuntain.

MR. GODFREY replied when he left late yesterday the count was
116. He continued to say that even though the facility is anong
the best, the safety features are not 100 percent fail proof. He
realizes that sonetinmes things happen and he believes that’s
what occurred in his case. \Wien sonething does happen he' d |ike

SENATE JUD COW TTEE -7- May 27, 2008



the departnent to acknowl edge it and offer support. “lI’d like
sonme accountability instead of denial,” he said.

11: 39: 03 AM
REPRESENTATI VE DOLL asked how many of the inmates have nedica
exam nat i ons.

MR. GODFREY explained that it depends on length of stay. Every
person that enters the prison population is cleared by nedical
he sai d.

REPRESENTATI VE DOLL asked what “cl eared by nedical” neans.
MR. GODFREY replied it nmeans they talk with a nurse.
REPRESENTATI VE DOLL asked if there’'s an actual exam nation.

MR. GODFREY said for the nost part it’s questions, but if the
i nmat e says there’'s sonething wong then they re exam ned.

REPRESENTATI VE DOLL said she interprets that to nmean there isn't
ot herw se an exam

MR. GODFREY deferred to the departnment to discuss innmate nedical
exam nati ons.

CHAIR FRENCH, in response to a request by Senator Therriault
said the nmenbs that were referenced would be distributed to the
conmi ttee nmenbers.

11:40: 24 AM

DENNI S HANSON, Corrections Oficer, Spring Creek, stated that he
is the officer who was suspended for talking to the press. A
copy of his suspension letter is in the legislative hearing
book. He relayed that he contracted MRSA in July 2006 while he
was working at Spring Creek and the Departnent of Corrections
accepted responsibility. He noted that the particulars of his
case are located under tab 12 in the binder. He understands the
departnent now i s saying he was suspended for being di shonest or
lying, but the case file provided says he was suspended for
talking to the press without permission. It also says that he
provided incorrect information, but what he relayed to the
reporter from Channel 11 was his personal experience with MRSA
and his own opinions about what should be done to inmates who
are contagious. He clearly stated that the opinions were his
own. What is inportant to himis that it says he was suspended
for talking to the press and he wuld challenge the

SENATE JUD COW TTEE - 8- May 27, 2008



adm nistration to hold itself to the standards it sets. He noted
that the third paragraph of the report says that his actions
indicate disrespect for the departnent and for nanagenent. But
he would say that he has high respect for the nore than 700
officers who work in the DOC. He's worked for the DOC for nore
than 25 years and believes that respect is earned, and in his
opi nion, the current nmanagenent team has not earned any respect.
“When you lack integrity and you |ack honesty in dealing with
probl ens, that doesn’'t earn you kudos and respect from your
staff,” he said.

MR. HANSON expl ained that a sinple nose swab identifies carriers
of MRSA, and nost hospitals do that test on intake. He rel ayed
that he is a carrier of MRSA because he’'s allergic to the drugs
that kill MRSA.

CHAIR FRENCH asked how he keeps it from again becomng a
probl em

MR. HANSON described his experience with MRSA and his reaction
to the sulfa drug he was given to treat the infection. He added
that his wife, who works at Spring Creek, also contracted MRSA

11: 44: 38 AM

CHAIR FRENCH said the hearing is also about overcrowding and
staffing levels. He noted that |egislators today saw exanpl es of
three prisoners in a cell and a single corrections officer
handling 90 inmates for neals, and asked what the situation is
at Spring Creek.

MR. HANSON said he would prefer not to speak to that, but he
would say that it is over the nmaxinmum inmate capacity and is
habitual ly understaffed. He’s been at Spring Creek for 6 years.

SENATOR W ELECHOWNSKI asked if he's seen other cases of inmates
with MRSA

MR. HANSON answered yes. In fact, when he was suspended for
supposedly giving wong information to the press on MRSA the
bulletin board inside the Spring Creek entrance had a poster
about MRSA. He explained that until recently if an infection was
treated at the institution clinic and it went away, it wasn't
di agnosed as MRSA. It was only if the person had to go to an
outside clinic or hospital for treatnment that the infection was
di agnosed as MRSA. Just lately a tracking system within the
institution has been started.

SENATE JUD COW TTEE -9- May 27, 2008



11: 46: 45 AM
SENATOR W ELECHOWBKI asked for an estimate of the number of MRSA
cases at Spring Creek in the |ast year.

MR. HANSON replied nore than 10 and sone inmates have been
infected twice. “Wien | got spanked for talking to the press, |
actually had inmates thank me when | cane back to work,” he
added.

SENATOR THERRI AULT referred to the neno of reprimnds and noted
M. Hanson’s statenent that he didn't follow the chain of
command before going to the press.

MR. HANSON responded that the departnment maintains that for a
corrections officer to exercise his or her First Amendment
right, he must first ask permssion through the chain of
command. But case law in the Lower-48 indicates that public
enpl oyees can take matters of public concern to the press
wi t hout asking permission. | sinply brought forward ny persona
experience with MRSA and ny opinion about how MRSA should be
handl ed, based on research and the federal bureau of prisons
handbook.

SENATOR THERRI AULT asked if he attenpted to use the chain of
conmmand.

MR. HANSON explained that when he returned to work after his
MRSA infection was clear, he gave a Spring Creek adm nistrator a
copy of the federal bureau of prisons guide for handling MRSA
out breaks. In that general tinmeframe he was asked if he would be
willing to talk about MRSA and he said yes.

REPRESENTATI VE DOLL asked if an inmate nust be clear of MRSA
before being released into the comunity.

11:50: 12 AM
MR. HANSON replied he knows of no legal basis for holding an
i nmat e because of illness once they have served their sentence.

MRSA is nmuch nore prevalent inside institutions than outside and
containment is the issue. An inmte or officer should be
i solated when they are contagious. “That’'s the easiest way of
dealing with it,” he said.

11:51: 29 AM

DON MACOVBER, l|aid off Corrections officer 111, Spring Creek,
Department of Corrections, read a statenment into the record. He
said that being laid off apparently makes him an anomaly as the

SENATE JUD COW TTEE - 10- May 27, 2008



first corrections officer to be laid off in the |ast decade or
so. He explained that in January 2005 he contracted a bacteria

infection with cellulites and a red swllen rash on his face a
few days after processing a prisoner who had a staph infection

He was treated wth antibiotics at the Seward Providence
energency room In contrast, prisoners with infections and ot her
di seases are currently treated by nedical personnel and housed
in the general prison population. Corrections officers receive
no information from the prison admnistration about which

pri soners have infectious diseases. “The administration’s
solution to prison infections is to wash the prisoners’ showers
and general popul ation areas three tines a day wth

di sinfectants,” he said.

MR MACOVMBER said that officer norale is low at this tine
because of the issue with infectious diseases, staffing issues,
lack of communication, and no viable solutions wth this

adm nistration. “lI am here before you in the hope of being a
voice and an instrument in changing these deficiencies,” he
sai d.

REPRESENTATI VE DOLL asked what it nmeans to be in lay off status.

MR. MACOMBER expl ained that he is currently in lay off status as
a corrections officer Il for up to 2 year

REPRESENTATI VE DOLL asked if he requested that status.

MR. MACOMBER replied he was given a choice of taking a denotion
and pay decrease or being laid off.

CHAI R FRENCH asked what pronpted that.

MR. MACOMBER expl ained that two sergeants were termnated 12 or
18 nonths before he pronmoted and they went through arbitration
to get their jobs back.

CHAI R FRENCH recapped that he was pronoted into a job that was
later filled by sonmeone returning to service and he was given
the opportunity to take a denotion and he didn’'t want that.

MR. MACOMBER reiterated that his choices were denotion with a
decrease in pay status or lay off.

11: 56: 24 AM
MR. WLSON guaranteed that although MRSA is taking center stage,
95 percent of the officers present are here because of staffing

SENATE JUD COW TTEE -11- May 27, 2008



issues. The DOC says that staffing is good and correction
officers aren’'t being as truthful as they ought to be. “W
obviously argue that staffing is down,” he said. Wd like to
di scuss position control nunmbers (PCNs), ratios, officers, and
shift mninmnms. The use of PCNs doesn't give an accurate idea of
nunber of officers relative to the nunber of inmates. PCNs are
what the Legislature funds. Sone 797 PCNs were funded over the
last 2 to 3 years, but the comm ssioner said that in 2006 there
was an average of 707 officers. A though there's talk that
correction officers are interfering wth prograns to help
inmates reenter society, that's false. W don’t know where
that’s coming from but it mght stem from the fact that
correction officers asked the Legislature not to allow
corrections positions to be used to fund programs. “That is the
only thing that we can think of that we could have done that
interferes with prograns,” he said.

The second issue is officer nunbers. Using data provided by DOCC,
he showed two staffing graphs. As previously stated, the nunber
of officers increased by 34 in 2007. In January 2007 there were
733 officers - Marc Antrim brought the nunbers up and that was
appreciated - but that is not the nunber of people on the floor.
During the year the inmate population increased from 3,385 to
3,718. Wien the additional 34 officers are spread over all the
institutions and each institution has four shifts, that amounts
to an increase of 1.6 officers per shift. Wat you should | ook
at is shift mnimuns - the nunber of people on the floor to take
care of inmates. For exanple, in Novenber 2006 the roster for
the night shift for the Anchorage Jail shows 20 officers. The
mnimm is 19; one officer was in training. The new
admnistration “lopped the mninmuns.” On 5/22/08 the m ni num at
the sane |ocation for the same shift was 16 officers. That's 3
fewer officers to handle many nore inmates. It's the mninmuns
that matter so when you talk to the departnent, always ask if
the m ninuns are the same, he said

12: 05: 33 PM
Senat or Huggi ns j oi ned the heari ng.

MR. WLSON said even when you bring in the 43 new officers that
is only 1.4 officers per shift per facility statew de, which
| eaves you with 3 fewer officers for a lot nore innates. He
clarified he is only using data fromthe 13 institutions.

MR. WLSON turned to a graph of inmate to officer ratios at the

Anchorage Jail East and the Anchorage Jail Wst. He said that
they like to use ratios, but they figure all the officers that

SENATE JUD COW TTEE -12- May 27, 2008



work for the departnent in the calculation. The problem wth
that is that only one fourth of the officers are working at any
one time. A fair ratio would divide the nunber of inmates in the
institution by the nunber of officers that are working a
particular shift. For exanple, 472 inmates divided by 19
officers yields a ratio of 24.8 inmates per officer.

CHAIR FRENCH clarified that he is dividing the nunber of inmates
by the nunber of officers. M. WIson agreed.

12: 08: 03 PM

MR. WLSON showed a chart of the history of inmate popul ations
in Alaska. According to Ceary, there were 3,099 inmates in
Al aska institutions at one particul ar tine. Conpari ng
popul ations in August 1997 and Decenber 2006, there has been an
increase of 286 inmates. That’'s an average increase of 31.77
inmates for each of the 9 years.

CHAIR FRENCH asked if nore beds were added during that 9 year
peri od.

MR. WLSON said the Sixth Avenue Jail was closed and Anchorage
Jail East was opened in 2002. In Decenber 2006, when this
adm nistration came in, there were 3,385 inmates and by Decenber
2007 the inmate population increased by 333. “It has increased
nore in one year, than in the previous 9 years conbined,” he
said. During that same tine the officer m ninmuns were dropping.

MR. WLSON acknow edged that the administration will take issue
with the m ni nuns.

SENATOR W ELECHOWSKI asked if the correction officers had tried
to talk to the adm nistration about MRSA and staffing issues.

MR WLSON replied, “We had a very close working relationship
and then about August |ast year communication ended.” After sone
period they were told to comunicate with the conm ssioner
through M. Kiesel. Wen conmunication with the comm ssioner
ended, they continued to send letters.

SENATOR W ELECHOWSKI asked him to clarify the neaning of
“conmuni cati on ended.”

MR. WLSON explained that ACOA sent a letter talking about
issues from the board. It was straightforward and that soured
the relationship. After sonme time he was told that union calls
were no |onger being taken. As the problens got worse, we did

SENATE JUD COW TTEE - 13- May 27, 2008



everything we could to continue to comunicate, he said. W net
with Randy Ruaro, sent a letter to the Governor, and asked to
meet with Deputy Chief of Staff Nzich. W asked for an
i ndependent person to |look at and evaluate the situation. But
t hey’ ve been adamant that there is nothing wong, he said.

12:13: 44 PM

REPRESENTATI VE DOLL asked for confirmation that he’'s saying that
in the last 10 years the nunber of officers has increased by 2
while the nunber of prisoners has increased by 333 in just the
| ast year.

MR. WLSON responded that those are the figures ACOA has. He
then said that his last talking point relates to noney. There's
been a lot of discussion that bringing prisoners back from
Arizona woul d save $50 per inmate per day as long as there is no
addi ti onal construction or addi ti onal of ficers. For 300
prisoners that would amount to a savings of $15,000 per day or
$5.4 mllion a year. “There is noney in the budget to do what we
have to do and the very least we have to do is bring those
m ni munms back up to what they were in Decenber 2006,” he said.
That doesn’t solve all the problens, but it's a good start.
That’s in addition to the 30 PCNs that were noved for use as
overtinme. “So you still have that overtine budget in the budget
pl us you have this additional savings of $5.4 million.”

12:15:49 PM
CHAIR FRENCH announced a lunch break. The conm ssioner’s
presentation would begin at 1:15 pm

1:18:56 PM
CHAI R FRENCH reconvened the neeting and asked the conm ssioner
to put hinself on the record.

1:19: 27 PM

JOE SCHM DT, Conmi ssioner, Department of Corrections (DOC),
stated that he would first talk about MRSA “W’ve heard
publicly hundreds of cases ranpant through the departnent. A
dozen officers bringing it honme to their famlies. This is
worthy of ...all of your attention. | was encouraged to hear M.
Wl son earlier say he didn't really say that, but that’s what we
all canme to react to.”

COW SSI ONER SCHM DT said that he would discuss when DOC first
became aware of the MRSA issue and what was done; he would
answer questions from a nanagenent perspective. Wth respect to
conmuni cation issues, he said that Ms. Kiesel has been with him

SENATE JUD COW TTEE -14- May 27, 2008



all along to deal wth conmmunication with ACOA. She would
clarify the communication M. WIlson referred to wth the
governor’s office. M. Brandenburg would talk about staffing
rati os.

COW SSIONER SCHM DT relayed that it was 2006 when the first
officer at Spring Creek came down with a MRSA infection. In
Novenber 2007 ACOA first expressed concern about st aph
infections and MRSA. In Dec 2007 the director’s office conducted
a survey of the facilities and recorded 2 cases of MRSA One
case was from 2006 and one was from Decenber 2007. On January 4
the director’s office sent out four docunents wth MRSA
information: infection control, an information poster, manager’s
information, and protocols on recognizing MRSA and what action
to take. In February 2008 DOC released a new policy on nedica

co-pay that dropped the standard $4 co-pay if a prisoner thought
he or she mght have a MRSA infection. “W didn't want to have
people trying to save the 4 bucks and not go to nedical,” he
sai d.

CHAI R FRENCH asked if the fee is wai ved for other conditions.

COMM SSIONER SCHM DT replied he hasn’'t waived the co-pay for
anything else, but if the inmate is indigent he or she obviously
woul dn’t pay and nedical care wouldn’t be denied. Continuing, he
said that a new policy on institutional sanitation was
established on April 21. It covers what to do to conbat MRSA if
donmestic hot water is l|lower than 160 degrees Fahrenheit. He
relayed that earlier in the nmonth 14 prisoners and 2
correctional staff had MRSA infections.

1: 22: 58 PM
CHAIR FRENCH recognized that Representative Bill Stoltz had
j oi ned the hearing.

REPRESENTATIVE COGHILL referred to the survey that was first
conducted on staff menbers with MRSA and asked if there is a
corollary for innates.

COWM SSI ONER SCHM DT replied we know there were 14 earlier this
nmonth and the Spring Creek facility has been tracking MRSA for 4
years. “It looks |like there were 51 separate individuals over a
4 year period that had MRSA,” he added.

REPRESENTATI VE COGHI LL asked him to address the maintenance

i ssue since testinony indicates that it’'s difficult to get water
heated to 160 degrees.

SENATE JUD COW TTEE -15- May 27, 2008



COMWM SSIONER SCHM DT replied he did speak with a facilities
manager about hot water and although he can’'t quote an exact
tenperature, 160 degree water would severely scald sonmeone. “I
think 115 [degrees] is the standard for taps and | believe it’'s
alittle higher for washing machi nes,” he said.

REPRESENTATI VE COGHILL said the assertion is that tap water
isnt hot enough. Acknow edging that there would be other
problens if tap water was too hot, he said the expectation is
t hat washing and cleaning is done with hotter water.

COWM SSI ONER SCHM DT answered yes, but he’d have to get back
with the exact tenperature.

SENATOR W ELECHOABKI asked the popul ation at Spring Creek.
COWMM SSI ONER SCHM DT replied the average population is 525.

SENATOR W ELECHOASKI asked if that’'s the only facility where
MRSA had been tracked.

COM SSI ONER SCHM DT said yes. Responding to a second question
he said confirned that 14 cases were found statew de.

SENATOR W ELECHOWBKI asked how MRSA is treated.

COW SSIONER SCHM DT deferred to nedical personnel and added
that he’'s heard that antibiotics are used, but he doesn’'t know
what kind. Wien there's resistance other antibiotics are used.

SENATOR W ELECHOWSBKI asked if he knows how many peopl e have been
treated with that kind of antibiotic.

COW SS| ONER SCHM DT said he didn't know.

SENATOR W ELECHOWNSKI asked if 51 [cases] at one facility is
considered a |lot or par for the course.

COM SSI ONER SCHM DT replied, “It’s the only snapshot we have so
it’s hard to answer that.” Because we’'re now tracking it, we
will knowin 6 to 12 nonths, he added.

1: 26: 52 PM

CHAI R FRENCH recogni zed that Senator Huggins and Senator MQuire
j oi ned the hearing.

SENATE JUD COW TTEE - 16- May 27, 2008



CHAI R FRENCH asked if MRSA is now tracked in DOC facilities.
COWMM SSI ONER SCHM DT answer ed yes.
CHAI R FRENCH asked if tracking at Spring Creek was a pilot.

COMWM SSI ONER SCHM DT said yes and he doesn’t know why it was
started in 2004. “There nust have been sonething cone up in
Seward, at least, and that one worksite started to track.” In
response to a question, he asked the conmittee to rely on the
epi dem ol ogi st to talk about tracking efforts. He then asked M.
Brandenburg to join himto tal k about staffing.

1:27:32 PM

BRYAN BRANDENBURG, Deputy Director, D vision of Institutions,
Departnent of Corrections, introduced hinself. He relayed that
he’s been studying staff and inmate ratios for 6 nonths. In 2004
a staffing study was done for all DOC facilities. “Wen we cane
onboard we reviewed that staffing study ..” In 2007 a revised
staffing study was done. The review found that during the prior
adm ni stration several unfunded overtine posts were added. That
created a problem because we didn’'t have funds to pay for those
posts. They were elimnated. He pointed out that in 2006 the
average nunber of correction officers (“C0s”) on the floor was
703. In 2007 the average nunber was 736 and so far in 2008 the
average 1is 736. This year we asked the Legislature for
addi tional PCNs [position control nunbers] to get nore staff.

One of the things that was evident from the prior
met hod of 1ooking at our staffing and our PCN count
was that there were — we had 30 ...vacancy-and-turnover
positions and 30 prem um pay positions. And so what |
di scovered and what |’ ve |earned since |’'ve been doing
this job is that those positions were budgeted, but
they weren’t funded. So it would appear that we had
nore PCNs than what we really, actually, had and were
available to fill. .Wen we went to the Legislature
this year we said, ‘Please give us these extra PCNs.’
...Do away with this VNI, do away with the prem um pay
and we’'ll make the facilities work with this nunber.
And so, you guys did that and we have 786 PCNs as of
July 1 to man our facilities.

Starting July 1 there will be 83 nore COs in the facilities than
there were in 2006, he said.

SENATE JUD COW TTEE -17- May 27, 2008



MR. BRANDENBURG said that when he researched inmate to staff
ratios he |ooked at statistics from the Bureau of Justice for
2002 as well as the American Correctional Association. In 2006
we had 703 staff and 3,514 inmates, which gives a ratio 1 to
4.9. In 2007 there were 736 staff and 3,601 inmates for a staff
to inmate ratio of 1 to 4.8. Thus far in 2008 there are 3,701
inmates to 736 staff for a ratio of 1 to 5. The Bureau of
Justice statistics indicate the national average is 1 to 6.7 and
the Federal Bureau of Prisons shows a ratio of 1 to 9.1. *“So
we’'re well below the national average when it cones to inmate to
staff ratios,” he said.

CHAI R FRENCH asked if legislators and COs could have a copy of
his witten report.

MR. BRANDENBURG agreed to supply copies.

1:32: 53 PM
CHAIR FRENCH recognized that Senator Therriault joined the
heari ng.

CHAIR FRENCH asked if he agrees with the assertion that the
m ni munms have been reduced. The exanple from the Anchorage
correctional facility was that the mninmm had been 19 and now
it’'s 16.

COM SSIONER SCHM DT pointed out that those are nightshift
nunbers and thus are |ower because all the prisoners are |ocked
in their rooms. Wen he was superintendent at the Anchorage
conplex the day shift mninmm was 36. “That nmeans that if we
ever fell below 36 we went out hunting for overtine.” Today the
dayshift mninmmis 39.

CHAIR FRENCH asked if he agrees that the mninuns have been
reduced. APOC says it’s down to 16 and you say it’s down to 17.

COW SSI ONER SCHM DT said when he left in 2005 it was 36 and
today it’s 39. He continued:

It did spike. It went up as high as 42 on days ...for
m nimunms. But those were unfunded positions. Those
were overtinme positions. So when everyone cane to work
that still wasn’'t enough people. Wth a mninmm of 42,
every single person could come to work that day, which
is rare because there’'s always sonebody off on
training or sick |leave or sonething, and every single
person could cone to work and you' re still 1ooking for

SENATE JUD COW TTEE - 18- May 27, 2008



overtime. It was a huge overtine deficit. So rather
than just chop it out our first year, we knew that had
to be addressed because going to the Legislature, we
don’t want to go and say we need this rmuch resource
and then spend 10 or 15 or 20 percent nore than that
j ust because we have posts that aren’t funded. They’'re
not on any kind of a report and they' re not counted on
any official legislative type of transaction. So we
took a year and the supplenental our first year in was
projected to be $17 nmillion. Mich of that was overtine
budget. Dwayne can talk |later about the budget. That's
reduced substantially and we want to continue to
reduce it. We don’t think overtine should be schedul ed
just because you don’t have enough. Your should have
posting to cover your job and then overtine is for

things that you don't see comng - sick |eave,
training, academes, things like that. ... W shouldn’'t
have everybody conme to work and still be short. So

whi |l e t he unf unded overtime posts have been
elimnated, we have added staff and added posts as
they’ ve come up. And it should be noted that the first
year we didn't ask for nore CO positions, we just
filled all that we had. W had 737 and the year end
average for 06 was 736, which was a bit of a tactic.
W go to the Legislature this year and said, |ook we
can in fact fill all of our positions — train and
retain these folks. W need to stop the business of
not funding 30 or 40 of our positions. W need funding
for them because we can fill them The Legislature
agreed with us and gave us that funding. So while no
PCNs were created, funding was added to the PCNs that
we already had. And that’s the way we’'re going about
it.

1: 36: 06 PM

SENATOR W ELECHOWSKI referred to the statistics that were
provi ded and acknow edged that 1 to 4 or 5 is lower than the
national average. But, he said, it seens that a better statistic
is the nunber of officers on the floor wth the prisoners. At
t he Anchorage Correctional Conplex Wst there was one nodel that
had 94 prisoners to 1 corrections officer. “lsn't that a nore
appropriate way of | ooking at the nunbers?” he asked.

MR. BRANDENBURG responded there are also units with 36 prisoners
and 1 officer. The nunbers he provided are based on national
organi zations that do this for a living. “They went out and
polled all the facilities across the United States and

SENATE JUD COW TTEE -19- May 27, 2008



determ ned, using that ratio or that method, to determine their
ratios of staff to inmates.”

1:37:43 PM

SENATOR McGUI RE asked if the departnment spends tinme thinking
about the appropriate staff to prisoner ratio and what nekes a
good work environnment and safe place to house prisoners.

COM SSI ONER SCHM DT replied he could used his work experience
as a corrections officer for 14 years but it’s nore appropriate
to use national averages to cone up with the plan. Wth respect
to whether the system is safe, he said they ve been keeping
special incident reports since January 2007. System w de there
have been 19 special incident reports on staff assaults. Getting
hit is never okay, but he can’t say that nore staff would stop
it. I think we would all agree that it would help, he said, and
if you were to conclude that we need nore staff we would
probably agree and nove forward to justify the increase. “Right
now we have national averages and we have the safety rating as
it is.

MR. BRANDENBURG relayed that to add a 24 post, which is 4.8
officers, it would cost an additional $500, 000.

CHAIR FRENCH referred to the tabbed binder and said it's
inmportant to keep in mnd the information from the Wshi ngton
State Institute for Public Policy that discusses evidence-based
adult corrections progranms - what works and what doesn’t. Maybe
we do have enough COs, but we saw three people in a tiny cell,
prisoners sleeping on the floor and prisoners housed in what
once was a gym He asked what wll happen to alleviate that
pr obl em

CHAIR FRENCH recognized that Representative Ranras had | oined
t he hearing.

COWM SSI ONER SCHM DT highlighted reentry prograns, recidivism

course studies, and funding to study prograns that wll be
i npl enented. Al that helps, but it isn't the magic cure, he
said. Phase 1 and 2 expansions will help. He continued:

W' ve taken previously approved capital nonies or
operational nonies from FYO8 and we're building 60
beds out at Palner. And the primary reason for those
is we're going to run a bus back and forth several
times a week if not nore to relieve some of the
Anchorage burden. Anchorage is a tricky one. If you

SENATE JUD COW TTEE - 20- May 27, 2008



want to see crowing, you gotta go to Anchorage because
those folks are all going to court. Daily, weekly,
monthly — they're there for a reason. The deputy
director and in sone cases the conm ssioner calls the
classification folks every single day and asks who is
there who doesn’t need to be there. Could they be in a
hal fway house, could they be in another facility, is
their court date a couple nonths away so they could go
to Seward or Arizona or anywhere. Because that’s the
one we know gets crowded and it’s the one we have the
hardest tinme making un-crowded. This piece at Palnmer
will give us sone relief — the cure to that, of
course, is nore hard beds in Anchorage. And as |ong as
we’'re processing people through court at the nunbers
that we are, that’'s just what’s going to have to
happen.

Phase 1 also tal ks about Fairbanks 38 beds and 60 beds
down at Kenai. Phase 2 is inplenentation of Senate
Bill 65. And that’s going to put about 1,700 on |line —
1,530 out at Point McKenzie at a new facility.
Cccupancy we expect February of 2012. Hopefully we’ll
start late 2011 with sone occupancy, but that’s the
timeframe that we have.

CHAIR FRENCH confirmed that the 1,500 bed facility will be in
Mat Su and asked if he agrees that |l|ast year the prison
popul ati on grew by about 300.

COWM SSI ONER SCHM DT replied we' re using 250.

CHAI R FRENCH asked if he roughly agrees that the increase over
t he previous 10 years was about 250 [per year].

COWM SSI ONER SCHM DT said no. In January 2007 we |ooked back 5
years and took an average. The increase per year was 137.

CHAI R FRENCH asked how he expl ai ns the nunbers ACOA i s using.

MR. BRANDENBURG explained, “Qur nunmbers canme from centra
classification that tracks our daily counts in all our
facilities. And so they gave us a yearly average based on those
counts fromeach of the facilities around the state.”

CHAI R FRENCH asked if it's possible to |ook at the nunbers and
be confused because there’s a huge disparity.

SENATE JUD COW TTEE -21- May 27, 2008



COWMM SSI ONER SCHM DT expl ai ned:

VWhat happened is we're 137 and it was a 5-year
average. Well we had our first full year in and in
January 08 we were 250. And when we |ooked back to

t ake another 5-year average ...there was a big spike
right at the end. The last couple of years were up
nore. | don’t know exactly what they were, but it was

nore than 137. That nade the average conme up to 137

CHAI R FRENCH continued to question the disparity between the two
aver ages.

1:45: 25 PM

MR. BRANDENBURG explained that, “In 05 we were 3,341 and this
year so far we’'ve been at 3,701 so whatever that anount is is
the average increase in our census from’05 to this nonth.”

CHAIR FRENCH asked if there would still be inmates in Arizona
when the new 1,500 bed facility opens 4 years from now if the
pri son popul ation is increasing by 150-200 i nnmates per year.

COWM SSI ONER SCHM DT said yes. W were using 137 when we tal ked
about a 1,200 bed facility and when we started to realize it was
250 or nore, we increased the estimte to 1,530 beds. Even
bumping it up we’'re looking at about 150 inmates being out of
state unless another unit is built. The reason they didn’t start
over and conme up with a way to build nore beds is because there
are 165 prisoners in the systemw th rel ease dates that are nore
than 40 years from now. W haven't given up on those prisoners
but the one’s that will never reintegrate would be the first to
go out of state. “They are our responsibility and they should be
here, but we can only afford to go so nuch and so fast.”

1:46: 46 PM

SENATOR MGU RE pointed out that inmate safety is also a
concern. Wen she visited the Fairbanks facility she noted that
an inmate who was serving a DU sentence could bunk next to a
docunented serial nurderer. She said she could feel the tension
and she was afraid. W tend to define problens the sane way
forever, she said. W’re looking at national averages rather
than going up to 35,000 feet and asking what ratio wll provide
the best safety and norale. She said she also could feel tension
anong the officers. That's an unhealthy work environnent that
has to affect recruitnment and retention, she said.

1:48: 47 PM

SENATE JUD COW TTEE -22- May 27, 2008



MR. BRANDENBURG explained that currently there is no initia
classification system so all incomng prisoners are treated in
cl ose custody. “So soneone that has their first DU is like a
m ni mum custody person so that they are not housed with soneone
who is ...a nore serious felony.” This admnistration is |ooking
at inproving the system so that it’'s possible to classify new
prisoners within the first 24 hours. A pilot study is in
pr ogr ess.

1:49: 54 PM

CHAIR FRENCH asked who makes the <classification decisions
because it’'s always struck himthat you can win or |ose the gane
right there.

COMM SSI ONER SCHM DT replied it’'s the probation officers at each
facility. He continued to say:

The system that we use now is a historical static sort
of system so they look at a lot of different data that
really doesn’t change for a person. The system that
we’'re looking at is nore dynamc so that it gives an
i ndi vidual an opportunity to change their custody
classification so that they can nove wthin the
system which will fit into what we’'re trying to do
wi th our progranms and our rehabilitation program

REPRESENTATI VE DOLL said she imagi nes that overtine is mandatory
so fatigue becones a factor. “It appears as if we’'re spending
probably nuch nore noney on overtime than we actually would if
we hired nore.”

COWM SSI ONER SCHM DT agreed and added that they're working to
fund every post with at least 4.8 PCNs so there won't be as nuch
need for overtine. Then we can cover nost things that cone up
when there’s absenteei sm he said.

REPRESENTATI VE DOLL asked what the budget request for that would
be for next year.

COMM SSI ONER SCHM DT replied it’'s too early to say.
REPRESENTATI VE DOLL said she | ooks forward to seeing that.

1: 52: 05 PM

MR. BRANDENBURG sai d that another thing about using the national

standard is that it’'s based on states that are also part of the
unified system jails and prisons conbined. “We're well wthin

SENATE JUD COW TTEE - 23- May 27, 2008



”

those ratios for those facilities,” he said. Some places around
the country have rations of 1 to 12 and 1 to 21 so we’'re |ucky
to be where we are.

COW SSIONER SCHM DT referred to Senator MQiire's question
about the right ratios and said it’s really not that easy to
answer. Wiat do you do when you step away from national
averages? DOC is asking for a substantial anount of noney and
you don’'t base that on feelings. One thing the wunion and
managenent can work on together is talking about how it would
inmprove norale to increase ratios, and if it makes sense we’'l|
present the case for nore staff to the Legislature. W’ ve never
asked for less staff, but we aren’t willing to throw these posts
out there that have no positions and no funding. That isn't
responsi ble. W want to rmake sure our noney is spent correctly.
“Everything we do is funded, every bed is counted.” Currently
we're at 101 percent, but if we were to nove 500 people to
Arizona tonorrow they would not conme out of the Anchorage
conpl ex. What would happen is that the budget down there would
increase by about $15 million and we’d have 500 enpty beds in
the system up here. | don't believe the public would be okay
with that, he said. Qur prem se has been that we need to be at
100 percent before we spend noney in Arizona. This year we're
spending $25 million down there to handle overflow, but it’s not
overflow if we have enpty beds up here.

COWMM SSI ONER SCHM DT conti nued to say:

The bunks and gym were added in 2005 and 2006. “All |
did was count them |If there’'s prisoners sleeping in
them and we’'re using them | put them on the count
sheet. That was quite a stir. The ads that the union
was running on TV were tal king about your energency
cap and all that. That's what they were tal king about
is counting all those bunks. | said before and I'II
say again on record, |'d rather have the gynms back
frankly. Let the prisoners go in there particularly in
Fai r banks where it’'s 60 bel ow and burn off sone steam
They’'re easier to nmnage. However, would the public
stand for that? Should we shift those 80 or 90 or 100
prisoners to Arizona to open the gym back up?

1:55:40 PM

SENATOR W ELECHOWSKI recapped that according to the charts that
were displayed this norning there were 3,099 inmates at about
the time the Ceary decision was issued in August 1997. In
Decenber 2006 there were 3,385 inmates and in Decenber 2007

SENATE JUD COW TTEE - 24- May 27, 2008



there were 3,718 inmates. In August 1997 there were 731
correction officers and in Decenber 2007 there were 733
correction officers. He asked if he agrees that between 1997 and
2007 there was an increase of about 600 inmates and 2 correction
of ficers.

CHAIR FRENCH clarified that Senator Welechowski was reading
from data under tab 5 of the docunent |abeled “Legislative
Hearing May 27, 2008.”

MR. BRANDENBURG said the adm nistration used data from 2005 when
t he average CO count was 697. In 2006 the average was 703 and in
2007 it was 736. That's based on average nunbers out of the
personnel departnent in Juneau. In each of those years the
nunbers went over and under. So far in 2008 the nunmber of COs
enployed is 736. “The sanme is true for the counts. Those are
from January to January for that year. It’'s an average census,”
he sai d.

SENATOR W ELECHOWBKI asked if he agrees that there’'s been an
i ncrease of about 600 i nnates since 1997.

COMM SSI ONER SCHM DT replied we don’t know if the nunmbers quoted
from 1997 are the average nunber of officers working or PCNs. |If
it’s PCNs that weren't filled, it doesn't matter. Just as M.
Wl son said, what the union and managenent do agree on is that
the PCN count gets confusing. There can be lots of PCNs but
unless they're funded, available, and filled you don't know.
W're running with what’s on the floor, he said.

1:58: 33 PM

SENATOR McGUI RE asked what efforts he’s made to communicate with
the union and why he thinks the Judiciary Conmttee had to get
involved with what feels like a famly fight.

COM SSIONER SCHM DT relayed that the wunion nmet wth the
governor's office in February to discuss a number of issues.
Randy Ruaro reported back that after a nunber of issues were
addressed the union president and busi ness nanager | eaned across
the table and said that they didn't want to talk. They wanted
this conm ssioner gone. That’s simlar to what | was told during
a discipline process back the previous sumrer, he said. At that
time | was told that the union arsenal has the grievance and the
nucl ear media bonb. Using the latter isn’'t negotiating, it’s not
even communicating, he said. Wwen the union went to the
governor’s office and did basically the sane thing, we wote a
letter saying we'd be happy to neet. The union response was that

SENATE JUD COW TTEE - 25- May 27, 2008



it was done with this conmm ssioner and would only neet with the
deputy chief of staff. He continued to say:

Brad just within the |ast couple of days backed out of
a nediation we had scheduled for tentatively |ast week
to talk about a ULP that they filed against the state.
W’'re seeing nore of a disconnect and what we’d I|ike
to see is nore of a connect. And if it’'s a |abor
managenent conmttee, that's fine. If it’'s a nediated
resolution type neeting with a federal nediator,
that’s fine. It doesn’'t matter, but many of the issues
that I saw, not knowing what was all going to be here
today, many of the issues that we saw this norning -
some communi cation would help or fix probably all of
them W’re not going to agree on certain things
However, if we’'re talking about it that’'s the way to
go. W’'ve had an open invitation, but their refusal
has not conme fromour side. And it won't cone from our
side. I've said we'll conme to these neetings as often
as we need to. W’'Il be honest wth our facts and
we’'re not going to be at odds with any | awrakers over
this. Wien the union cones to the table and starts
di scussing matters, we're happy to do so. That’'s all
we’' ve needed.

2:01: 48 PM
DI ANNE KI ESEL, Deputy Director, Division of Personnel & Labor
Rel ati ons, Depart nent of Adm ni stration, stated that in

Sept enber 2007 when issues cane up between the conm ssioner’s
of ficer and ACOA, she was asked to be the liaison. That isn't
unusual because uni ons don’ t typically wal k into a
comm ssioner’s office to make a deal. That’'s particularly true
if there’s an issue related to |abor relations or a contract
Cenerally it goes through the adm n process — at |east the |abor
relati ons section.

On Friday she was asked to be the Iiaison and the foll ow ng week
she sent a nmessage to M. WIson at ACOA informng him that she
would be the liaison and that the lines of conmmunication were
open. That generated a nunber of emails back and forth. Although
the union wasn’'t happy, she was in fact the contact until early
February or March when the union went to the governor’s office.
The commi ssi oner expl ained what happened with that process, she
sai d.

CHAI R FRENCH asked if she participated in the neetings at the
governor's office.

SENATE JUD COW TTEE - 26- May 27, 2008



M5. KIESEL replied she was informed of the neetings after they
t ook place. She was asked if she would facilitate a neeting with
ACOA and the conmissioner’s office and she agreed to do so.
After the nedia issue she suggested that perhaps federal
medi ati on was a better avenue. Federal nediation was set up for
the end of May but it was postponed when this neeting canme up
Hopefully it will occur sonetinme in June.

CHAI R FRENCH asked what topics the mediation would cover.

M5. KIESEL replied her recommendati on would be for each party to
list the topics because there seens to be sonme confusion.

CHAI R FRENCH asked what topics she would list.

M5. KIESEL said staffing needs sone work and it needs to be
clear to the union that the commi ssioner isn't always the one
who adm nisters all the decisions that are handed down. He has
the final determnation but admnistration often weighs in on
disciplinary issues and statew de issues. One issue nentioned
today involved denying an injury |eave request from M. Codfrey.
She and M. Peeples nmet with the workers’ conpensation fol ks and
the decision was not to approve an injury |eave because it
wasn’'t determned that the injury was work related. That
decision was laid on the conm ssioner’s doorstep when it was a
deci sion nmade outside that realm There are other issues that

are laid at his doorstep that shouldn’t be as well. “So | think
there needs to be sone communication with the union to let them
know why those issues are truly happening. |It’'s generally

because there’s a statewide inpact or sonmething wthin the
contract that prohibits us from doing sonme of those things,” she
sai d.

2:05:23 PM
CHAIR FRENCH said the Legislature this year passed a |aw giving
firefighters a presunption if they acquire certain illnesses

during the course of their enploynent as a firefighter. Because
it’s difficult to pin down where you get certain diseases, you
just assune that because they respond to fires on a regular
basis that an inhalation disease probably cane from a fire. He
suggested thinking about sonmething like that in the way of MRSA
infection clains for correction officers. “It sort of stands to
reason if you're going to a facility every day where there are
hundreds of |less than perfectly sanitized individuals, you re
probably going to pick it up at work.” He suggested she think it
over.

SENATE JUD COW TTEE -27- May 27, 2008



M5. KIESEL responded that DOC isn’'t the only departnment dealing
with public contact and the MRSA issue. | don’t know where you'd
draw the |ine, she said.

2:06: 56 PM
CHAIR FRENCH recognized that Senator Davis had joined the
heari ng.

COMM SSI ONER SCHM DT said that if the Legislature is considering
a bill like the firefighters, he’'d like to talk first. They
don’t have to come into ny office every tinme because there are
peopl e who can advise nme on these things, but it’'d be nice once
in awhile, he said. The union would find is that if they were
tal ki ng things woul d nove ahead.

REPRESENTATI VE RAMRAS noted that a fire alarm went off when he
was touring the Fairbanks facility and he was amazed that nobody
nmoved. It struck ne that there were two groups that were
incarcerated at that nonment - the inmates and the correction
officers. Echoing sonme of the remarks of Senator MQ@ire, he
said he’s seen astronomcal growh in the budget during his
tenure in the Legislature and he questions whether there has
been a commensurate growh in the DOC budget. It didn't strike
him that way. Al so, the building is old and doesn’t seem safe.
100 prisoners sleep on the floor of the gymasium that’s never

in the dark because of the row of high sodium lights. “I was
overall very inpressed with the performance of the correctiona
officers in maintaining order but ..l was not very inpressed

with the amount of resources they had to do their task,” he
sai d.

COWM SSI ONER  SCHM DT responded t hat he’ d like Deputy
Comm ssioner Peeples to talk about the budget growh over the
| ast several years. He can say that SB 65 was the vehicle for a
statewi de expansion and Fairbanks was supposed to get an
additional 80 beds. After looking at the nunbers it was clear
that wasn’t enough. “Fairbanks is one we could probably use 400
or 450 beds.” It’'s a hub for many of the northern comunities

The building is old and there are issues but the expansion only
all owed 80 beds and there were also issues with the borough as
far as putting up the bonds and supporting the project. W all
believe that Fairbanks will need a new facility. How big it wll
be will be dictated by growh and what’s being done el sewhere in
the state.

SENATE JUD COW TTEE - 28- May 27, 2008



CHAI R FRENCH asked M. Peeples to tell the cormittee the size of
the corrections budget 4 years ago, its size now, and the
percentage i ncrease that represents.

2:13:20 PM

DWAYNE PEEPLES, Deputy Conm ssioner, Departnent of Corrections,
said he doesn’t have all the nunbers in his head, but from FY08
to FYO9 the budget went from $227 mllion to $244 million. He'd
have to go back and pull nunbers to do an historical conparative
anal ysis by departnment. Representative Ranras is correct, the
buildings are old and sone may be getting to the end of their

life, he said. He has a |list of capital budget repair,
mai nt enance, and equi pnent itens that would quickly add up to $1
billion. There are current construction needs out into the next

10 years. The average projected growh over the next 10 vyears
woul d be 250 beds per year. A recent piece of |egislation nade
third-tinme m sdeneanant assaults a felony so within 5 years
there will be an additional 600 people to adjudicate. About 450

of those will be convicted and about 80 percent will be held in
Nonme, Bethel, and Fairbanks. They'|Il be short termers so there
will be need to increase jail beds in those areas, he said. *

have not calculated it out but I think you Il be needing 400 to

500 beds in a half a decade in those facilities.”

MR. PEEPLES said the growth projections were nade to the House
Fi nance subcomittee and those nunbers can be revised, based on
sonme recent |egislation, and supplied to the conmttee.

2:15: 59 PM
REPRESENTATI VE COGHI LL asked if there’s any consideration of
separating the Fairbanks pretrial facility from housing.

VMR. PEEPLES replied under SB 65 there was a prelimnary plan for
buil ding in Fairbanks, but it’s not feasible right now. The plan
was for an 80-bed unit and you could do sonme separation wth
that, but nost of that population is pre-sentenced. To return
md or long-term sentences to Fairbank is a little over the
horizon. He rem nded nenbers that the Fairbanks facility area
draws from the entire north end of the state. In the long run
you'll need to do sonething with the jail, he said. It’s
possible to juggle for awhile, but it’s expensive to operate. It
has steam heat and long term problens that the 80 additiona
beds woul dn’t address.

REPRESENTATIVE COGHI LL said he's remnded that the pretrial

situation is difficult partly because the fourth judicia
district reaches into the Kuskoquim area in Southwest Al aska.

SENATE JUD COW TTEE - 29- May 27, 2008



There’s a huge ampunt of traffic rotating through the court and
that facility. Oten people have to go to Spring Creek, None,
Juneau, or Anchorage to make room for that ever-shifting
popul ation in Fairbanks. The building sinply gets overused.

CHAIR FRENCH recalled that a criticismhe's heard about SB 65 is
that a large facility was envisioned and it’s ever-shrinking. He
asked why that’s happening and if 1,500 beds is the bottom i ne.

COWM SSI ONER SCHM DT expl ai ned a couple of significant problens.
SB 65 was passed in 2004 and sat dormant until June 2006. During
those years the Anchorage CPI ran about 3 percent a year and
construction inflation ran between 7 and 9 percent per year. The
bill provided $330 million to build a prison and the nega prison
that was designed as of Decenber 2006 was estimated to cost $405
mllion. “So we were alnpst $80 mllion over budget before we
ever started,” he said. A nore significant problem was that the
attached fiscal note called for staffing for a 1,200 bed

facility. Anyt hi ng nor e woul d cone from departmenta
efficiencies. W decided we weren’t going to nove ahead on a
project that was $80 million over budget and had a fiscal note
that provided staff for 1,200 beds and 2,250 actual beds. *“I
have no idea how anybody was planning on doing that,” he said.
W cut the beds to 1,200 and spread it back out into other
communities such as Seward and Bethel. And we talked to
Fai rbanks because the original intent of the bill was a regional

expansion. The outlying communities supported it and the MatSu
Borough agreed to the reduction because nobody was very excited
about nega. They just wanted the business out there. W knew if
we tried to go ahead with a big project and then several years
| ater canme and asked for staffing for 2,400 you'd rightfully say
that the bill was passed with the understanding that you' d find
efficiencies in the departnment for the extra 1,000 beds. *“I
wasn’t willing or able to do that.” W believe that we can
confortably staff a 1,530 bed facility.

2:21: 00 PM

COM SSIONER SCHM DT said he hopes this results in better
communi cation. He agrees with Senator McQuire's remark that it’s
an in-house fight. A lot of this doesn't need to be at this
level. “W’d be happy to sit down and work a lot of this stuff
out but we can’'t do it with threats and we can’'t get bullied. W
have to do it fair and we have to talk to each other and nean
what we say,” he said.

SENATOR THERRI AULT comrented that this discussion points out a
problem in the Legislature as well. SB 65 passed in an era when

SENATE JUD COW TTEE - 30- May 27, 2008



budgets were projected to be tight going forward so there were
restrictions put on the costs. The conparison was what it would
cost to build and house people in Alaska versus the cost of
continuing to ship them out of state. Corrections generally
doesn't get a lot of attention, but it’s a constitutionally
obligated governnental responsibility. The capital budget this
year was staggeringly large but there was nothing in the budget
this year that addresses the needs you nentioned 4, 5 and 6
years out. And there’s nothing on the drawi ng board. Legislators
need to refocus their attention on what the constitution
mandates and pass that information on to their constituents.
It’s not necessarily what we’'d like to do, but it’s what we're
obligated to do, he said.

2:23:51 PM

REPRESENTATI VE STOLTZE asked if he had an opportunity to
aggressively lobby for the $7 million for utility lines that the
Governor vetoed from the capital budget. That budget cut was
very befuddling, he said. “Did you have an arm westling contest
wi th Karen Rehfeld and | ose?”

COWMM SSI ONER SCHM DT replied the project was viable before that.
He recalled that the borough |obbied to have that put in the
budget. We certainly wouldn't stand in the way, but it didn't
fit into the plan, he said.

REPRESENTATI VE STOLTZE said he had the House conpanion bill and
he’s happy to be past that ugly tinme in |egislative history.

2:25: 08 PM
REPRESENTATI VE RAMRAS said he wasn't famliar with the $7
mllion that was vetoed, but he does know that tw ce he put

$10,000 in the budget for a clinbing wall at the 40-plus year
old Fairbanks Youth Facility and it was cut both tinmes. The
i deol ogy behind it was to do sonething to rescue young people in
the facility and bring sonething fresh into an antiquated
facility. He doesn’'t think there is support comng from the
current admnistration and he's frankly not inpressed when he
has a comm ssioner conme before him and speak so disparagingly of
the people he is supposed to supervise. In the private sector he
hi msel f supervises 300 people and he would never use the words

“bul I'yi ng or t hr eat eni ng” in a public setting. It’s
i nappropriate |anguage and hurtful to norale to use that sort of
vernacular. “lI would suggest Conm ssioner that you work on the

| anguage that you should use in the future to work together with
a group where there are obvious differences in intensions and
frictions and not enough resources to go around.” That sort of

SENATE JUD COW TTEE - 31- May 27, 2008



| anguage is incendiary and counterproductive and it’s probably
part of the reason we're sitting here today. “l would vigorously
encourage you to find nore constructive |anguage to use in
articulating the relationship between vyou and this very
i npressive body of correctional officers,” he said.

2:30: 20 PM

COWM SSI ONER SCHM DT responded, “I felt bullied and that's what
| said, but I hear you. And if it at all wll cause further
delays in our comunication, then it’s not productive. Wat |I'm
about is getting back to a table. ... The key to this is

effective, polite, professional comrunication”

CHAIR FRENCH thanked the comm ssioner and said the next
presentation is fromthe state epi dem ol ogi st.

2:31:28 PM

DOCTOR JOE MCLAUGHLIN, Acting Chief, Section of Epidem ology,
Division of Public Health, Departnent of Health and Soci al
Ser vi ces, i ntroduced hinself and delivered a Power Point
presentation on Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus
(MRSA). He said he would start with the epidem ology of MRSA
beginning with the background. He would go into how to diagnose
and treat MRSA infections as well as sone precautionary
nmeasures. Next he woul d di scuss MRSA in prisons.

St aphyl ococcus aureus is a bacteriumthat is commonly carried on
the skin or the nose of healthy people. It is the comobn cause
of mnor skin infections. The typical presentation is pinples or
boils. Otentines it can be treated without antibiotics, but it
can also cause serious infections such as surgical wound
i nfections, bloodstreaminfections and pneunoni a.

MRSA stands for Methicillin-resistant Staphyl ococcus aureus,
which nmeans it’'s resistant to the certain antibiotics. Those are
beta-lactam antibiotics, which include nethicillin, oxacillin,
penicillin, and anoxicillin.

CHAIR FRENCH asked when the nedical community first noticed
there were staph strains that couldn’t be treated by the beta-
| actam anti biotics.

DR. MCLAUGHLIN replied that started in the *70s; a subsequent
slide woul d address that.

DR. MCLAUGHLI N continued to explain that about 25 percent to 30
percent of the general population in the United States 1is

SENATE JUD COW TTEE - 32- May 27, 2008



col oni zed with Staphyl ococcus aureus. Colonization is typically
in the nares, axilla, and groin and those people are considered
to be carriers.

MRSA is the form of Staphylococcus aureus that's resistant to
antibiotics. In 2001 and 2002 about .8 percent of the genera
popul ati on was col onized with MRSA. Two years later 1.5 percent
of the population was colonized so it's increasing in this
country. Staphyl ococcus aureus colonization is a risk factor for
i nfection. About 80 percent of infections are endogenous. That
means that of those people who are infected with Staphyl ococcus
aureus, about 80 percent are carriers.

2:35:49 PM

DR. MCLAUGHLIN highlighted some of the consequences of MRSA
colonization: it leads to increased risk of infection; hospita

stays last about 10 days longer; there’s a 2.5 fold higher
nortality; and health care costs are increased.

There are tw min types of MRSA infections: healthcare
associ ated and community associated. In a healthcare setting the
i mmunoconprom sed patients are at highest risk for MRSA
i nfection. The  nost common  manifestation includes wound
infections, wurinary tract infections, bloodstream infections,
and pneunonia. The proportion of staph aureus infections that
were MRSA positive in intensive care units in the U S. went from
around 2 percent in 1974 to 64 percent in 2004.

Community acquired MRSA occurs in otherw se healthy people who
haven’'t been hospitalized nor had a nedical procedure in the
| ast year. Approximately 12 percent of MRSA infections are
community acquired. The remainder is acquired in a hospital
setting.

CHAIR FRENCH said when a corrections officer gets MRSA it 1is
community associ at ed.

DR. MCLAUGHLIN replied nost people who are infected in the
prison system have community associated MRSA. Sone cases are
hospital associated. There are ways to test and therefore
determine whether the strain is consistent wth conmunity
acquired or hospital acquired.

CHAI R FRENCH asked if it’'s possible to go further to say exactly

where the strain canme from — a particular school, bathroomin a
bar, or prison.

SENATE JUD COW TTEE - 33- May 27, 2008



DR. MCLAUGHLIN said when there’s a viral outbreak of sone sort
it’s possible to ook at the DNA of the strain of the bacteria
that caused the outbreak and identify that the particular strain
is consistent anobng patients who are associated wth the
out break. The sane applies for MRSA. If there’s a MRSA out break,
it’s possible to take cultures from clinical specinmens and | ook
at the DNA patterns of the isolates to determ ne whether there’s
one strain of MRSA or nmultiple strain.

2:39: 06 PM
SENATOR THERRI AULT asked if MRSA is an unbrella term for many
di fferent bugs.

DR. MCLAUGHLI N said that's correct.

SENATOR THERRI AULT asked if it would apply to common chil dhood
i nfections such as inpetigo and conjunctivitis.

DR. MCLAUGHLIN replied there are many different manifestations
of MRSA including inpetigo, skin rashes, cellulites, pinples,
and boils. It can also be internalized causing bloodstream
infections, infections of an organ, or pneunoni a.

2:39: 54 PM

DR. MCLAUGHLIN said about 12 mllion outpatients healthcare
visits are estimated to occur each year in the U'S. And about
292,000 hospitalizations are thought to be associated with staph
aureus infections each year in the US. In 2005 about 94,000
peopl e were diagnosed with invasive MRSA. Invasive neans it’s
gone from a skin infection to colonizing. About 19,000 people
died of invasive MRSA; 86 percent were healthcare associated
MRSA infections and 14 percent were conmunity acquired MRSA
infections. The annual cost is estimated to be between $3.2
billion and $4.2 billion.

CHAI R FRENCH asked how he accounts for the fact that one in five
who get invasive MRSA die, and nost are healthcare associ ated
Is it deeper in the systembefore it’s caught?

Dr. MCLAUGHLIN said yes. The vast mmjority of MRSA infections
seen in nedical facilities are skin infections. They are benign
and don’t require any specific antibiotic treatnent. Just a
small proportion of those skin infections becone an invasive
di sease — colonization of the lungs, for exanple. But once the
infection becones invasive there’s a very high case-fatality
rate.

SENATE JUD COW TTEE - 34- May 27, 2008



2:42: 13 PM

Dr. MLAUGHLIN said nost states don’t have regulations or
statutes mandating the reporting of MRSA infections. Primarily
that’ s because the reporting is a burden to healthcare providers
and | ab personnel. The role that public health officials have in
intervening in MRSA incidents is as unclear as it is with the
coormon cold. A very few states require reporting of every
| aboratory confirnmed case of MRSA and sone states are | ooking at
mandating reporting of MRSA infections that occur in sterile
sites such as blood and urine. Those are things to | ook at down
the road, but currently Al aska reporting regulations don't
require reporting MRSA infections. Currently there are 56 or 57
reportable infectious diseases in Alaska. Although MRSA isn't
one of those, there is a clause in the infectious disease
reporting regulations that says that an unusual nunber or a
clustering of any infectious disease is reportable. He said that
anot her common exanple of how this mght apply is the Norovirus.
That’s a very common virus that causes frequent outbreaks on
cruise ships. That isn't reportable but as soon as there is an
i ndi cation of an outbreak, healthcare providers are required, by
law, to report that to public health. The report triggers an
out break investigation.

2:44: 28 PM

Dr . MCLAUGHLIN showed slide exanples of staph and MRSA
infections. They range from pinples to boils and cellulites,
which is a red infected skin tissue. It also manifests as
ul cers, inpetigo, and drainage.

SENATOR THERRI AULT asked if the pinples always progress into the
nor e obvi ous i nfections.

DR. MCLAUGHLIN replied they wusually don't, but if they do
progress into ulcers that would be an increased risk factor for
a bl oodstream infection. He indicated a slide showi ng the nost
commonly seen infection and said many people report their first
synptonms feel and | ook |ike a spider bite.

Dr. MCLAUGHLIN said people are at increased risk for comrunity
acquired MRSA if they have: skin to skin contact; openings in
the skin such as abrasions; contact with contam nated itens and
surfaces; crowded living conditions; and poor hygiene. People
who have been identified as being at increased risk for
infection from conmmunity acquired MRSA include: Al aska Natives,
athletes, children, nmen who have sex wth nmen, mlitary
recruits, Native Anericans, Pacific |Islanders, and prisoners.

SENATE JUD COW TTEE - 35- May 27, 2008



2:46:41 PM

Dr. MCLAUGHLI N discussed the diagnosis of MRSA skin infection

First there’s the clinical diagnosis. The health care provider
nmakes an assessnment and presunptive clinical diagnosis and
deci des whether or not to culture the lesion. The Center for
D sease Control (CDC) reconmends culturing every |esion whenever
possi ble. The culture is taken from the weeping wound or from a
skin biopsy. Antimcrobial resistance testing is also highly
recommended. That determ nes whether or not the strain is
sensitive or resistant to antibiotics.

Treatment involves the application of warm or hot conpresses to
the lesion. Sonetinmes it involves an incision to drain the
wound. This should only be done by a healthcare provider because
it’s a risk factor for infection. Treatnment can also include
antibiotics, but it’s inportant to know the specific strain of
the bacteria because the use of a particular antibiotic is
gui ded by the susceptibility profile of the organism Otentines
antibiotics are unnecessary.

CHAI R FRENCH asked what causes the boils to go away wthout
anti biotics.

DR. MCLAUGHLI N expl ained that sonetinmes the body fights off the
bacteria and sonetinmes warm conpresses help. Antibiotics are
indicated if there’s a large area of cellulites, a systenc
illness where the patient is febrile, the patient is inmune
conprom sed or has serious health conditions, or the patient has
i mrune suppression.

2:49: 17 PM

DR. MCLAUGHLIN said that mupirocin is an antibiotic that’s
commonly used for decol onization. Occasionally it’s Dbeen
effective in the short termin individual patients who are very
ill. But the effectiveness of interrupting transm ssion in the
heal thcare setting hasn’t been established and there is no data
for community transm ssion. Also there’'s been increasing
resistance to nupirocin so there’'s no consensus recomrendation

If it actually worked it would be a great way to prevent MRSA
infections. It involves applying an ointnment in the nares,
axilla, and groin to essentially decolonize soneone who is
col oni zed, not infected, with the bacteri a.

Dr. MCLAUGHLIN said the prognosis is very favorable for people
who are in generally good health and have a mld case of MRSA
However, patients nmay be carriers for years and recurrence nmay
be as high as 40 percent in certain populations. Because this

SENATE JUD COW TTEE - 36- May 27, 2008



isnt a nationally notifiable condition, there isn't good rate
and incidence data to guide and inform the epidem ology of the
di sease. However current thinking is that less than 1 percent
and up to 7 percent of people who have MRSA infections devel op
an invasive disease. As previously stated, invasive disease has
severe norbidity and nortality. About 20 percent of the people
wi th invasive MRSA die.

2:51:28 PM

Dr. MCLAUGHLIN said that the nunber one prevention is to wash
your hands. Also, keep cuts and scrapes clean and covered unti
heal ed; avoid contact with other people’ s wounds and bandages;

avoid sharing personal items such as towels and razors; and
effectively diagnose and treat to prevent nethicillin sensitive
staph aureus from becoming nethicillin resistant staph aureus.

DR. MCLAUGHLIN said that in prisons specifically, inplicated
risk factors include: |longer incarceration, prior antibiotic
use, male gender, washing clothes by hand, not using soap to
wash, other infections or chronic diseases, self draining of
boils, sharing towels and razors, and tattooing. On initial
presentation prisoners typically say they have spider bites.

2:53: 08 PM

Studies were done in prison populations in Mssissippi, New York
and Loui siana. Colonization rates range from 0.8 percent to 16.6
percent. There's little data on the incidence of disease. A
Texas study |ooking at about 300,000 inmates incarcerated from
1999 to 2001 showed an incidence of 12 MRSA infections per
100, 000 person years.

2:54:14 PM

The federal bureau of prisons put out updated managenment of NMRSA
i nfections guidelines in August 2005. It goes through screening,
reporting, treatnent, infection control, and outbreak nanagenent
recomendati ons.

CHAIR FRENCH asked what role he and the division of public
health would play in the MRSA screening that’s planned.

DR. MCLAUGHLIN replied the DOC staff will do the surveillance in
the selected prisons and public health will help in calculating
and interpreting the rates. Those rates will be conpared wth
the published literature rates.

SENATE JUD COW TTEE - 37- May 27, 2008



REPRESENTATI VE DOLL asked him to restate the difference between
MRSA in the nasal passage and in a wound on the hands and how
that relates to showers, steam and |ower water tenperatures.

DR. MCLAUGHLI N expl ained that NMRSA can infect any area of the
skin. About 30 percent of the general population is colonized
with staph aureus, and about 1.5 percent of the population is
colonized with MRSA - wusually in the nose. Colonization is
different than infection, but if there’'s a scratch in the nasa
mucosa that can introduce the bacteria deeper into the skin and
cause a local skin infection. It may go deeper and cause a
bl oodstream i nfecti on, pneunonia, or infection of other areas of
t he body.

SENATOR W ELECHOWNSKI asked what woul d be considered an out break
in a prison popul ation of 3, 600.

DR. MCLAUGHLIN replied we don't have a good grip on that
nationally. The division of public health asks healthcare
providers to report anything that seens to be unusual and they
will determ ne whether an investigation is warranted. If it is,
an outbreak investigation will be conducted. Influenza provides
a good corollary. Mst of the time seasonal influenza outbreaks
aren’t investigated, but there are focal pockets of influenza
where the incidence rate is high enough to warrant further
i nvestigation.

2:59:15 PM

REPRESENTATI VE RAMRAS hi ghlighted that 100 nen are housed in the
Fai rbanks correctional facility gymasiumthat has 2 toilets and
probably the sane nunber of sinks. He asked about sanitation in
that sort of environnent.

DR. MCLAUGHLIN replied epidemologically it’'s been denonstrated
that crowding is a risk factor for MRSA colonization and
i nfection.

REPRESENTATI VE RAMRAS remarked that he was inpressed with the
cleanliness of the laundry facility in Fairbanks, but he has
guestions about the plastic boats they saw at the beginning of
the tour. He asked if they're sanitized and it they aren't if
they could be a breeding ground for NMRSA or other infectious
di seases.

DR. MCLAUGHLI N acknow edged that he isn’'t sure he knows what the

boats are, but objects that people routinely conme in contact
with are known risk factors for transmssion. Toilet seats

SENATE JUD COW TTEE - 38- May 27, 2008



should be sanitized frequently. The Federal Bureau of Prisons
docunent on the nanagenent of NMRSA infections provides specific
and detailed recomendations for sanitizing. Certainly any
fomte should be sanitized frequently with a detergent. Sheets
and other things should be washed in water that is between 120
and 140 degrees Fahrenheit.

REPRESENTATI VE RAMRAS asked if soneone within the system could
talk about what effort is nmade to sanitize the sleeping units
that are hard plastic or a mat.

3:03: 03 PM
CHAI R FRENCH suggested the comm ssioner provide that information
during wap up at the end of the day.

SENATOR THERRI AULT asked if there's increased risk in a

restaurant on a busy Friday night, in a multiplex novie theater,
or in a daycare.

DR. MCLAUGHLIN said the mmjority of the epidemologic studies

that look at crowding as a risk factor for illness have focused
on living in the same quarters. Anytime the environment is
crowmded there’'s increased risk that the bacteria wll be

transmtted through person-to-person contact or contact wth
i nani mat e objects that are contam nated.

CHAI R FRENCH comented that it sounds as though our nothers were
ri ght again; you need to wash your hands.

SENATOR W ELECHOWSKI noted that people who work in prisons were
not on the list of individuals who are nore likely to get MRSA
He asked if he would add that group to the I|ist.

DR. MCLAUGHLIN said a review article was published just |ast
year that suggested that prison enployees mght be at increased
risk for infection. He offered to provide a copy of the article.

CHAIR FRENCH asked him to send a copy to his office and he' d
make sure it was circul at ed.

At ease from 3:05:19 PMto 3:27:36 PM

CHAIR FRENCH said that M. Bodick from the Departnment of Law is
up next. He's here to because issues such as overcrowdi ng and
di sease raise the specter of Ilitigation. He's been with the
departnment for sone tinme and he’ll discuss the Cleary litigation
and its settlenent.

SENATE JUD COW TTEE - 39- May 27, 2008



JOHN BODI CK, Assistant Attorney General, Crimnal D vision,
Departnent of Law, said he represented DOC for about 20 years

He’s been asked to explain the Ceary agreenent, where the case
is now and where it came from He becane involved in 1995 but
the case started in 1981 due to perceived unconstitutional
conditions in the Alaska prisons. In 1984 the state won the
trial on all but some mnor issues. The judge found the Al aska
prison system to be safe, humane and not wunconstitutionally
overcrowded. Despite that finding, the judge inposed population
caps thinking that it was likely there would be overcrowded at
some time in the future. Both sides appealed and rather that
pursuing the appellate process negotiations took place and
resulted in a final settlenent agreenent and order. He said part
of it came from the State’s belief that it would give better
caps fromthe plaintiffs than fromthe judge. The belief at that
time was that it could be used to secure financing from the
Legi sl ature.

3:29: 20 PM
The State worked under that agreenent for about 10 years and
achi eved substantial conpliance with the agreenent. In 1997 he

took over the case fulltine and in 2001 Judge Hunt released
cl ass counsel and ended court oversight. Since that time there
has been no court oversight and there’'s been no attorney for the
plaintiffs — just hinself and the open case.

MR BODICK said that in 1999 the Legislature enacted AS
9.19.200, which is the “Alaska Prison Litigation Reform Act.” He
noted that copies were circulated to nenbers. That Act prevents
the court from enforcing consent decrees, like Ceary, or from
i nposi ng any prospective relief, such as an injunction ordering
the Department of Corrections to do sonmething in prisoner
litigation. The court can still inpose injunctions if certain
findings are nmade. The nost inportant is a finding of a
violation of a state or federal right. That conmes from state or
federal constitutions or statutes.

The court nust also find that any relief nust be drawn narrowy
to remedy a specific violation. And it nust be the |east
intrusive means to correct the specific violation. Cass relief,
such as the Ceary class consent decree, is only available if
the violation of rights applies to the entire class. For
exanple, if there was a deficiency in the food service in
Fai rbanks, a consent decree couldn’'t be issued that would apply
to Spring Creek. It would be limted to the specific Fairbanks
popul ati on and area.

SENATE JUD COW TTEE - 40- May 27, 2008



3:31: 30 PM
CHAI R FRENCH recogni zed that Representative Buch was present and
had been nuch earlier in the day.

SENATOR THERRI AULT commented that he is pleased to hear him say
that the State won nbst of the issues in the Cleary case because
many people m stakenly concluded that the State system was so
m smanaged that the Court had to take over operations of the
corrections facilities. He asked if any of the things he
menti oned woul d have been triggered if this |law had been on the
books at that tine.

MR. BODICK replied he wasn’'t involved in the case in the *80s so
he isn’t sure what the conditions were, but the short answer is
that it wouldn't happen today. First there weren't any findings
of unconstitutionality and second there’s a provision in the Act
that allows the State to enter into a consent decree wthout
these findings. That's limted to tw years. For the consent
decree or prospective relief to continue after that tine, the
court nust nake a finding of unconstitutionality as well as the
other findings in Section (a) of the Act. He said that it wsely
allowed the State to settle cases, but it limted the |ength of
time that the Court could control operations of DOC

3:33:30 PM

MR. BODICK continued to explain that the statute was in place
and there were provisions that allowed for the State to nove to
term nate the consent decree and the prospective relief. He said
he filed a notion to that effect in 2000. The prisoners clained
to counsel that the statute was unconstitutional. The State's
claim that it was constitutional prevailed. Judge Anders ruled
that the Court could no |onger enter prospective relief under
t he consent decree, but that the final order didn't end. So the
court can only enforce the final order if findings are nade of
unconstitutionality and the | east obtrusive means. But, he said,
the court can always nmeke those findings; a prisoner can always
sue for wunconstitutional conditions irrespective of the Ceary
settlenment agreenent. “Really what that’s done is taken the |egs
out from under Cleary.” It still exists but it can't be
enforced, he said.

CHAIR FRENCH said that's a key point. Page 7 of the deary
settlenment tal ks about cell and dayroom size. Legislators today
saw exanples of 3 prisoners to a cell and Ceary says that
future facilities may not provide for housing of inmates in

SENATE JUD COW TTEE -41- May 27, 2008



dormitories. He asked if that applies to the gymasium that has
bunks in it or if he d argue that AS 09.19.200 vitiates that.

MR. BODICK replied he would argue that to nake that claim the
prisoners would have to show that the gym that’'s used as a
dormtory is wunconstitutional or in violation of a state or
federal right or constitution.

CHAIR FRENCH said it’s not whether it violates Cleary;, it’s
whet her it violates the constitution.

MR. BODICK said that's correct; that claim could be nade in
state or federal court without Cleary by filing a civil rights
action. Cleary 1is essentially an open case that prisoners
occasionally file lawsuits in to enforce the consent decree.

When suit is filed he responds under the PLRA [Prison Reform
Litigation Act] and the Court throws out the conplaint, he said.

CHAI R FRENCH questi oned how overcrowded it would have to get to
rise to a constitutional violation as opposed to a violation of
Cl eary.

MR. BODI CK expl ained that an analysis of overcrowdi ng under the
constitution looks at the totality of the circunstances. Cell
si ze, dayroom size, how often prisoners are out of their cell,
recreational opportunities, food service, nedical, clothing,
change of bedding, staffing, incidence of violence and assaults
woul d all be |ooked at to determ ne whether or not a particular
facility was constitutionally overcrowdled.

CHAIR FRENCH asked if prisoners have Dbrought clains of
unconstitutional overcrowding since the Cleary settlenent.

MR BODICK said no; there have been no clains asserted since
Cl eary.

3:37:18 PM

SENATOR W ELECHOWSKI observed that if the Cleary settlenent
agreenent were in effect today, the State would probably be in
violation of a nunber of parts of it; AS 09.19.200 basically
renders the Ceary settlenent decision unenforceable.

MR. BODICK agreed. He said that over the last few years he’'s
dealt with the settlenent agreenent a lot and his opinion is
that many of the provisions are above the constitutional floor.
He advises DOC to use national standards for cell size, for
exanpl e, as opposed to Ceary.

SENATE JUD COW TTEE -42- May 27, 2008



3:38: 13 PM

CHAIR FRENCH, noting that MRSA is a new devel opnent since
Cleary, asked what a prisoner’s disease claim about MRSA m ght
add to the m x.

MR. BODI CK explained that a prisoner can sue about MRSA in two
ways. First they would allege that they weren't provided enough
medi cal care under the constitution. To do that they'd have to
show the State is deliberately indifferent to their serious
medi cal needs. He’'s heard that there are plans in place to take
care of MRSA and “I doesn’'t think we're even close to that
standard,” he said. The other way for a prisoner to sue would be
to claim negligence; they received negligent nedical care. In
the few reported MRSA cases that he's seen, appropriate care has
been given imediately. In the cases he's analyzed it was the
prisoner who failed to keep their wound clean or tend to after
care.

3:39:40 PM
REPRESENTATI VE STOLTZE asked how many cases from the Ofice of
t he Orbudsman end up in his shop each year.

MR BODICK replied they don't end up in his shop but he is
consulted. The statute says the onbudsman can not provide the
information they get in their investigation to litigants so that
cuts off the lawsuit angle. Sone years the onbudsnman seens to be
on top of the departnent and then they seem to forget it for a
few years. In the last year or so there have been nore requests
t han usual, but it’s not excessive.

3:40: 52 PM
CHAIR FRENCH recognized that Representative M ke Chenault had
j oi ned the hearing.

REPRESENTATI VE STOLTZE asked if the issue of officer safety
entered in to the Ceary litigation because that’'s a nmjor
concern for him

MR. BODICK replied not to his know edge; Ceary was nostly from
t he prisoner perspective.

CHAIR FRENCH told the commttee that forner Comm ssioner Antrim
wasn’'t able to attend because of a scheduling conflict. He
solicited closing coments.

3:42: 26 PM

SENATE JUD COW TTEE - 43- May 27, 2008



REPRESENTATIVE DOLL said she’d like nore information on how
pri soner MRSA, HV and other outbreaks are tracked and treated
and what happens when the person is released into the community.

3:43: 54 PM

SAM EDWARDS, Deputy Conm ssioner, Departnment of Corrections,
explained that the nedical file follows the prisoner regardless
of the length of their sentence and as they nove from
institution to institution. Bed space demands inpact how often a
prisoner is noved, but generally they stay close to where they
were arrested. Each prisoner is assessed in terns of progranms
that are needed and available. Substance abuse is a prinmary
issue among inmates and currently there are three residential
subst ance abuse progranms - one for wonen at Highland Muntain,
one for men at WIldwod in Kenai, and the third is in the
Arizona prison. Odds are that soneone with a 10-year sentence
who has been adjudicated and has a substance abuse problem w ||
go to Arizona following their stay at the first facility. At the
end of his term if his classification is such that he is
eligible to go into the community on furlough or into another
comunity treatment program that would be his third stop.
“Ideally there would be three stops for that person,” he said.

3:46: 17 PM
REPRESENTATI VE DOLL said Dr. Luban, the corrections nedical
officer, indicated that records aren't kept and that the

conputers aren’t set up to handl e that data.

MR. EDWARDS clarified that Dr. Luban was probably talking about
the fact that there is no broad electronic tracking system so
it’s not possible to look at how many prisoners in the
departnment had incidents of MRSA or any other disease. However,
i ndividual nedical files are kept up to date and they travel
with the person wherever they go.

REPRESENTATI VE DOLL surmised that work could be done in that
ar ea.

MR. EDWARDS said we wouldn’t argue with that. Electronic record
keeping and retrieval was a central issue at the recent crine
sunmit, he added.

CHAIR FRENCH said he’'s been asked what would conme out of the
hearing today, and his intention is to analyze what was | earned.
Most of what has been seen and learned w Il probably nanifest
itself in the budget next year. There will be greater focus on
rehabilitation, the growh in the prison population, and the

SENATE JUD COW TTEE -44- May 27, 2008



nunber of COs that are available to nanage the population. He
noted that sonme noney is in the capital budget this year to do
an evidence-based study on which rehabilitation prograns
actually work. It gets legislators’ attention to hear that it

can cost $500,000 to fill one post in one correctional facility.
He’s sorry Representative Holnmes isn’'t here today because her
three strikes assault bill helped drive honme to many the huge

cost of incarcerating individuals for long periods. That wll
have a beneficial effect going forward because the nore focus
there is on keeping bad guys in jail and getting people wth
subst ance abuse problens out, the nore the strains on the system
will be relieved , he said.

3:48: 57 PM

REPRESENTATI VE COGHI LL observed that as he’'s watched the budget
over the years, one thing they haven't gotten a handle on is how
to deal with people who have nental health issues who do bad
t hi ngs. Perhaps we could work on that conmponent, he said.

CHAIR FRENCH said he’s glad he brought that up because
| egislators |earned today that DOC is the nunber one health
services provider in the state.

SENATOR THERRI AULT remarked that the Budget and Audit Conmittee
will use the information comng out of this hearing when it
revisits the audit request.

REPRESENTATI VE RAVRAS said apart fromthe funds for the clinbing
wal |, which he will submt a third time, he wants to highlight
recidivism It’'s the worst denon we face and we need to get to
young people before they becone a burden on the adult
correctional system Last week he spoke at the GED commencenent
in Fairbanks and he doesn’'t want to overlook the value of
getting folks their GEDs while they' re in prison.

REPRESENTATI VE DOLL added for the record that village safety
officers and crinme comng in from the villages hasn’t been
di scussed. W need to connect all the dots on this kind of thing
so that we |l ook at things holistically, she said.

CHAI R FRENCH adj ourned the hearing at 3:53:49 PM

SENATE JUD COW TTEE -45- May 27, 2008



